

Open Access Repository www.ssoar.info

Increased Uncertainty: Child protection in the era of COVID-19: Early discussions and empirical findings from Germany

Mairhofer, Andreas; Peucker, Christian; Pluto, Liane; Santen, Eric van; Gandlgruber, Monika

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Arbeitspapier / working paper

Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:

Mairhofer, A., Peucker, C., Pluto, L., Santen, E. v., & Gandlgruber, M. (2023). *Increased Uncertainty: Child protection in the era of COVID-19: Early discussions and empirical findings from Germany.* München: Deutsches Jugendinstitut e.V.. <u>https://doi.org/10.36189/DJI202316</u>

Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer CC BY-ND Lizenz (Namensnennung-Keine Bearbeitung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Nähere Auskünfte zu den CC-Lizenzen finden Sie hier: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nd/4.0/deed.de

Terms of use:

This document is made available under a CC BY-ND Licence (Attribution-NoDerivatives). For more Information see: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nd/4.0





Diese Version ist zitierbar unter / This version is citable under: https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-90199-7 Deutsches Jugendinstitut

Andreas Mairhofer, Christian Peucker, Liane Pluto, Eric van Santen & Monika Gandlgruber

Increased Uncertainty: Child protection in the era of COVID-19

Early discussions and empirical findings from Germany

Research into children, young people and families at the interface between science, politics and professional practice

The German Youth Institute (DJI) is one of the biggest social science research institutes in Europe. For more than 50 years it has conducted research into the life situations of children, young people and families, advising national government, the German federal states and local authorities and providing key stimuli for professional practice.

Founded in 1963, the governing body of the institute is a non-profit association with members from the fields of politics, science and federations as well as child, youth and family welfare institutions.

The institute is mainly funded by the Federal Ministry of Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth (BMFSFJ) and to a lesser extent by the federal states of Germany. Additional project funding is provided by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) as well as by foundations, the European Commission and science funding institutions.

Impressum

© 2022 Deutsches Jugendinstitut e.V.

Deutsches Jugendinstitut Nockherstraße 2 81541 München

Datum der Veröffentlichung Juli 2023 DOI: 10.36189/DJI202316 Deutsches Jugendinstitut Außenstelle Halle Franckeplatz 1, Haus 12/13 06110 Halle

Ansprechpartner: Dr. Andreas Mairhofer Telefon +49 89 62306-105 E-Mail mairhofer@dji.de

Contents

1	Introduction			
2	Child protection, Corona and uncertainty			
3	Literature review: Early discourses and evidence on child protection during the coronavirus pandemic			
	3.1	Review Methodology	10	
	3.2	Results	11	
	3.2.1	Uncertainty about the situation in the families	11	
	3.2.2 3.2.3	Uncertainty regarding the capacities of local human services Uncertainty arising from changed communication and working	14	
		methods in the Child and Youth Welfare Services	16	
	3.2.4	Uncertainty about the availability of local child and youth welfar	e	
		services	18	
4	Empirical Study: Statutory child protection during the corona pandemic in			
	Germa	ny	20	
	4.1	Design of the study	20	
	4.2	The field under study	21	
	4.3	Results	22	
	4.3.1	Perception of risks	22	
	4.3.2	Child Protection Work	23	
	4.3.3	Major challenges	26	
5	Discus	sion	28	
6	Limitations		30	
7	References		32	

Abstract: The Covid-19 pandemic is turning the world upside down, affecting almost all private and public domains, including child protection. In order to shed some light on the consequences of the early months of the pandemic for organized child protection, the project "Child and Youth Welfare Services and Social Change" at the German Youth Institute (www.dji.de/jhsw) conducted a brief online survey of local Children and Youth Welfare Authorities in spring 2020. In order to frame and contextualise the empirical findings, we also conducted a narrative review of the professional discourse in spring and summer 2020.

The results of our study have already been widely disseminated in the national context (e.g. Mairhofer et al. 2020, 2021 a,b,c). In addition, the final report of the study was translated into Croatian language on behalf of the Ministry of the Interior of the Republic of Croatia. With this report we would like to make selected results of our study and our literature research also available to a more general international audience. Although our survey investigated several facets of child and youth welfare services, this article only presents selected findings relating to child protection and positions them in the context of further reflections on child protection in times of pandemic.

Child protection is characterized by a high degree of complexity, uncertainty and ambiguity. What is already true under "normal" conditions is even truer in the current exceptional pandemic situation, as will be shown in this article. The pandemic has acted as a multiplier, intensifying the structural challenges of organized child protection. This finding follows from a narrative review of literature and empirical results of our nationwide survey of local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities.

1 Introduction

Since 2020, the coronavirus pandemic and the globally introduced measures for containing it have profoundly impacted numerous facets of everyday life and society. This report addresses the question of which consequences the early months of the pandemic had for organized child protection. The focus of this report is on local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, the organizations primarily responsible for child protection in Germany.

We take a two-pronged approach to answering our question on the consequences of the coronavirus pandemic on child protection: On the one hand we outline the professional and public discourse on child protection during the early months of the pandemic. Taking the perspective of local Children and Youth Welfare Authorities, we identified uncertainty as a core concept under which different aspects of organised child protection during the pandemic can be subsumed. Accordingly, the focus of this report is on identifying and describing four types of uncertainty among institutions responsible for child protection during the first months of the coronavirus pandemic.

On the other hand we present descriptive findings from a brief quantitative empirical study we conducted online in Germany during the first lockdown in spring 2020. The study was designed as a survey of organizations, namely the German Child and Youth Welfare Authorities (Jugendämter), and 373 out of 575 participated (Mairhofer et al. 2020). The two main sections of the report (literature review and empirical study) are each intended to independently contribute to answering the question of how the coronavirus has impacted organized child protection – exemplified by the German case.

The report's major aim is to provide insight into the situation in Germany. Given the specificity of national child protection systems, the findings cannot be transferred one-to-one to other countries. At the same time, organized child protection is facing comparable challenges, at least in western countries (Merkel-Hoguin et al. 2019; Parton 2020; Spratt et al. 2015; Gilbert et al. 2011). Thus it is reasonable to assume that the basic findings will be relevant for other countries, in particular the central finding that the pandemic situation has intensified the structural challenges of organized child protection, above all that of having to act under conditions of uncertainty.

Consequently, the study aims to strike a balance between an empirical analysis of the consequences of the coronavirus pandemic for child protection in Germany and the hope that this will also provide useful insights for the situation in other regions. To this end, both the discussion of the empirical findings and the presentation of the literature review oscillate between national and international frames of reference.

The report starts with a brief overview of the interrelations between child protection, the coronavirus pandemic and uncertainty (section 2). This is followed by the first main section that presents the methods (section 3.1) and results of our rapid literature review of the early discourse on the child-protection related consequences of the pandemic (section 3.2). The second main section is on child-protection related results of our survey of local Children and Youth Welfare Authorities. It starts with an introduction into the design of the empirical study (section 4.1) and into the field studied (section 4.2). Next, child-protection related results of our survey are presented (section 4.3). This is followed by a discussion of the findings (section 5) and some considerations on limitations of this paper (section 6).

2 Child protection, Corona and uncertainty

In an interview, the German philosopher Jürgen Habermas described the situation in society at the start of the coronavirus pandemic with the words, "There has never been so much knowledge about our lack of knowledge and about the necessity of having to act and live under conditions of uncertainty" (Schwering 2020, authors' translation). This general diagnosis of the times can also be applied to child and youth welfare services. On the one hand, at the start of the pandemic it was deeply unclear which consequences the pandemic and the measures introduced for containing it would have on the lives and problems of children, youths and families. On the other hand, there was only scant knowledge about how the child and youth care system would act under these conditions. This lack of knowledge, as will be shown below, prompted great speculation and worry, both nationally and internationally.

Habermas's diagnosis of the times certainly seems to apply to child and youth welfare services, too. The uncertainty caused by the pandemic inevitably reached child protection, a field where uncertainty is a constitutive and unavoidable characteristic (Munro 2019; Parton 1998). Accordingly, the pandemic situation amplifies the structural challenges of child protection work, as uncertainty is a constitutive and unavoidable characteristic of child protection.

The uncertainty in child protection results from the fact that decisions have to be made with sparse and contradictory information, in potentially conflictual and poorly-defined situations, under great time pressure and with high caseloads and that the decisions made have far-reaching consequences for the affected children's and families' lives (Munro 2019; Mansell et al. 2011; Carr et al. 2018a, b; Herrenkohl et al. 2020; Broadhurst/Mason 2020). Child protection decisions are therefore wicked issues/problems (Rittel/Webber 1972; Head/Alford 2015) and thus have a structural similarity to decisions in organizational (or political) crises (Sayegh et al. 2004). Similar to decisions in an organizational crisis, child protection social workers reach their decisions through a "dynamic interplay of intuitive and analytic processes with emotionally informed intuitive processes as the primary driver" (Whittaker 2018, p. 1967). Therefore, decision-making does not just have a rational basis but is affected by unconscious references and established routine behaviours (Kahneman 2003; Miller 2018).

In recent years many attempts have been undertaken to professionalize and to rationalize child protection, in the hope of countering the problem of uncertainty. Examples include attempts to standardize case work and implementing evidencebased instruments for risk assessment. The results of these strategies are diverse. Whereas some studies found indications for greater certainty among practitioners and better decisions, other studies found that such strategies merely mask uncertainty, shifting it to different levels and ultimately increasing it (e.g. Ponnert/Svensson 2016; Sletten/Ellingsen 2020; Mairhofer 2020 for Children and Youth Welfare Authorities in Germany). Viewed in this light, uncertainty is not only constitutive for the practice of child protection but it is also increasing. According to the thesis proposed here on the basis of an analysis of the early academic discourse and the empirical survey in Germany, the coronavirus pandemic is intensifying this trend further. In what follows the notion of uncertainty will be used to denote situations characterized by sparse, contradictory and potentially unreliable information and expectations in which it is nevertheless necessary to act, irrespective of whether the situation is one of perceiving needs or initiating interventions. In view of our guiding question about the consequences of the pandemic for child protection, this vagueness, or rather openness, qualifies uncertainty as a bridging concept for interconnecting and integrating the relevant issues at different levels.

3 Literature review: Early discourses and evidence on child protection during the coronavirus pandemic

After the WHO declared the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak a pandemic on 11 March 2020 and as national infection figures rose, governments around the world took measures to contain the spread of the pandemic. Following the advice of medical experts, social distancing has become an important instrument in fighting the pandemic (WHO 2020). As a result, many countries closed their schools, early childhood education and care (ECEC) facilities and youth centres, wound down the economy or shifted to working from home where possible, and strongly restricted the number of people meeting in public, if not passing outright bans (Our World In Data COVID-19 Dataset). Only a short time after these measures came into force, the first warnings about their risks appeared. Bradbury-Jones and Isham (2020) speak of a 'pandemic paradox' because measures to protect people from the pandemic produce unintended negative consequences (especially for women and children). In this vein the UN Secretary-General Guterres tweeted already on 23 April 2020 "#COVID19 is a public health emergency – that is fast becoming a human rights crisis".

National and international actors expressed concern about protecting children from abuse and neglect. A common line of argument was that the measures to contain the pandemic would increase problems and tensions in families, leading to stress and escalating violence. Due to the lockdown, professional and informal local support structures as well as mechanisms of social control would become inaccessible (The Alliance et al. 2020; United Nations 2020; Sitovaris et al. 2020). The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action (2020) stated: "Infectious diseases like COVID-19 can disrupt the environments in which children grow and develop. Disruptions to families, friendships, daily routines and the wider community can have negative consequences for children's well-being, development and protection. In addition, measures used to prevent and control the spread of COVID-19 can expose children to protection risks. Home-based, facility-based and zonal-based quarantine and isolation measures can all negatively impact children and their families."

The aid organization World Vision (2020a) estimates a worldwide increase in violence against children as a result of the coronavirus pandemic of 20–32%, which translates into 50–85 million more child victims.¹ UNICEF (2020) also warns of the direct (primary) health consequences of the pandemic (illness) and the indirect (secondary) social consequences, naming as the latter 1) neglect and lack of parental care, 2) mental health and psychosocial distress as well as 3) increased exposure to

¹ World Vision (2020a) bases its estimate on, among others, evidence of an increase in phone calls to helplines for intimate partner violence in various countries worldwide and the assumption of a strong relationship between intimate partner violence and child abuse and neglect.

violence, including sexual violence, physical and emotional abuse. From a global perspective, not only the social consequences of a lockdown – which in itself is a privilege of wealthy nations (O'Leary/Tsui 2020) – are problematic, but also the consequences of economic collapse (e.g. poverty and child labour), incomplete education or the dangers of disrupted aid programmes (e.g. suspending vaccination programmes) (United Nations 2020; World Vision 2020b).²

In western industrialized countries the child protection discussion is dominated by concern about an increase in violence in the domestic context on the one hand, and a reduced efficiency of the child protection system during the lockdown on the other. This dual threat has also been postulated in Germany. After the number of COVID-19 cases increased sharply in several regions of southern and western Germany, the governments of some federal states already introduced measures to contain the pandemic on 16 March, including closing schools and ECEC facilities, before a national lockdown was introduced on 22 March.³ In Germany too, actors from politics, academia and NGOs expressed early concern about protecting children and youth from abuse and neglect (e.g. UBSKM 2020). Such claims were partly substantiated by indications of an increasing use of telephone helplines for parents, youth and professionals (e.g. BMFSFJ 2020; Fegert et al. 2020). In addition, journalists' investigations and anecdotal evidence from practitioners cast doubt on the ability of organized child protection to function properly (e.g. Zitelmann et al. 2020; Grünberg 2020).

What appears from the outside to be a dual threat to child protection is seen from the perspective of the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, responsible at the local level for ensuring effective child protection, as an increase in uncertainty, complexity and inconsistency. This situation is related to different but in fact closely interwoven aspects. Before presenting these aspects (3.2), the methodological approach is briefly described (3.1).

3.1 Review Methodology

We conducted a narrative literature review in order to gain a more comprehensive and a more nuanced picture on the consequences of the corona-pandemic on organized child protection in general and particularly on types of uncertainty within this context.

² It is estimated that worldwide an additional 30 million children will fall ill or die because vaccination programmes have been suspended during the coronavirus pandemic (World Vision 2020a). Experience with such "secondary impacts" (ibid.) has been gained from the Ebola epidemics of recent years (see also United Nations 2020, p. 13).

³ The national lockdown included far-reaching bans on meeting in public and private, the closure of educational institutions, cultural facilities, restaurants and hotels and almost all shops and businesses with customer contact. In addition, many companies and public services – except for organizations considered part of the so-called critical infrastructure – closed down or introduced short-time working.

A range of considerations prompted us to decide against a classical type of literature review (Grant/Booth 2009): First: At the beginning of the pandemic, relevant findings and assessments were published by different actors (e.g. science, NGOs, press) through various channels (e.g. homepages, newsletters, journals) and diverse formats (mostly grey literature or pre-print repositories). A classical type of literature review would therefore in our eyes not have been able to cover the breadth of relevant topics. Secondly we did not want to wait for the publications to be indexed, meaning that a systematic literature review, for example according to the PRISMA model (cf. Moher et al. 2009) was ruled out. Thirdly, less formalised approaches, such as scoping reviews (Arksey/O'Malley 2005; Levac et al. 2010), were also unsuitable, given the specificity of the situation and the openness of the search question. Above all, the purpose of our review was not to provide an overview on the state of research and discussion, its systematisation or even a result synthesis. Instead our focus was on relevant dimensions of uncertainty in the pandemic situation. We rather followed a qualitative empirical understanding of research and tried to discursively and iteratively develop types of uncertainty in the pandemic context. For this purpose, sources of explanatory value beyond the observed discourse of 2020 (March 2020 - September 2020) were also included, for example on digital communication.

To compile our observations, we conducted weekly searches for publications on the topic of the coronavirus (not only with reference to aspects of child protection) from the start of the pandemic onwards. The searches covered national and international websites of political, academic and professional institutions involved in child and youth welfare or child protection (e.g. www.unicef.org, ifsw.org, www.bmfsfj.de), relevant platforms and newsletters (e.g. www.jugendhilfeportal.de) as well as newsfeeds from nearly one hundred national and international journals covering the fields of child protection, social work, social services and public administration (e.g. Children and Youth Services Review; Trauma, Violence & Abuse; International Social Work). If the title or abstract of a publication (e.g. scientific article, report, press release) indicated that it could be relevant, the publication was read, summarized in excerpts, assigned keywords and saved in a literature database (Citavi 6). In total, we included 211 publications. Using an open approach, we discussed the publications comprehensively within the researcher team. By means of an inductive and iterative process, we collated different aspects, consequences and perspectives of the pandemic and identified four types of uncertainty that are relevant for organisations active in child protection.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Uncertainty about the situation in the families

Firstly, there is great uncertainty, among both researchers and practitioners, about the consequences of the measures for containing the pandemic on families and the risks to children. This uncertainty can be amplified, but also reduced, with information from different sources. We can distinguish between different types and sources of information whose relevance has changed over time.

Especially at the start of the pandemic, the positions of prominent organizations (e.g. UNICEF, The Alliance, World Vision) played a major role. Their concerns that social isolation resulting from the lockdown would lead to increased tension in families, exacerbating psychological stress due to social isolation, uncertain employment prospects and the demands associated with supervising and teaching children at home so that existing domestic violence would become amplified (e.g. also Posick et al. 2020; Kaukinen 2020), appeared highly plausible.

Empirical data on the actual situation in families only became available with a lag and were anything but clear. Basically, two types of data can be distinguished: first, findings on general risk factors and previous crises and second, findings from the current pandemic. Social isolation, psychological stress as well as poverty and economic hardship are empirically substantiated risk factors for child abuse and neglect (e.g. Vanderminden et al. 2019; IOM/NRC 2014, WHO 2013; Herrenkohl et al. 2008). Since these risk factors are apparently being exacerbated by the current situation, an increase in child abuse and neglect is assumed. Brooks et al. (2020), for example, conducted a review of papers on the psychological effects of quarantine. Most studies reported on effects like stress, confusion and anger. Additionally, results from studies on previous crises and catastrophes can be extrapolated for the current situation. These imply that child abuse and neglect increase as a consequence of major disruptions to daily life (Campbell 2020). A study from 2014 on the Ebola epidemic in West Africa found that 55% of children questioned reported an increase in family violence (OECD 2020). Other studies find differentiated effects. Schneider et al. (2017), for instance, show that economic problems during the Great Recession (2008–2010) led to more violence against children but not to more neglect. Studies on the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina (2005) indicate an increase in both abuse and neglect (Campbell 2020), but some also show that violence increased especially in families who were evacuated or became homeless, i.e. in a situation where it was not possible to withdraw into the privacy of their own home (Kaukinen 2020).

The problem with all these studies is their applicability in the current pandemic situation. However, there are also problems with the applicability of studies on the effects of the coronavirus pandemic, especially when these were conducted in other cultural environments or when lines of argument mix empirical findings with speculation. Parental psychological stress is an empirically proven risk factor for child abuse and neglect, but whether parental psychological stress has in fact increased was initially only speculation. While early findings (from Asia and North Africa) show an increase in psychological stress (Qui et al. 2020; Arnout et al. 2020), the first studies in Germany surprisingly showed that the lockdown situation hardly had any adverse effects on the overall psychological situation (e.g. Entringer/Kröger 2020). Later, further analyses showed an increase in the negative effects of the pandemic over time (e.g. Möhring et al. 2020), that the pandemic situation had differentiated effects and that, in particular, populations groups with lower socioeconomic status and mothers are in fact experiencing higher levels of psychological

stress (e.g. Huebener et al. 2020; Schröder et al. 2020; Brown et al. 2020). Furthermore, empirical studies have shown that the measures for containing the pandemic have a negative effect on the well-being of young people (e.g. OECD 2020; Andresen et al. 2020). The increasing number of findings over time not only provide a more detailed picture of the consequences of the pandemic, they also show how estimations and consequences change over time.

Differentiated and reliable scientific findings on the direct consequences of the current pandemic only appeared with a certain time lag. This is not surprising, given that disaster research is generally confronted with specific methodological and ethical challenges (van Brown 2020). Especially at the start of the coronavirus pandemic, this knowledge gap was frequently filled – also in scholarly texts – by drawing on newspaper articles that appeared very soon after the start of the pandemic. Frequent reference was made, for instance, to an article in the New York Times by Taub (2020) about an international increase in domestic violence. The newspaper articles were not the object of scientific analysis but functioned as a source of evidence for empirical facts. Given the lack of scientific studies, even prestigious international NGOs often used media reports to support their case, not always drawing on quality media. Gradually, a critical reflection on the quality of such media reports set in (e.g. Kaukinen 2020). Furthermore, the usage and evaluation of different sources of information changed over the course of the pandemic.

An increase in domestic violence or intimate partner violence, for which currently more information seems to be available (WHO 2020; Rauhaus et al. 2020), is considered a reliable indicator for an increase in child abuse and neglect. This nexus is evident since a co-occurrence of both types of violence is well proven (Chan et al. 2019; Herrenkohl et al. 2008). In the current situation, a rise in the usage of telephone helplines for victims of intimate partner violence is commonly viewed - and transported in the media - as proof for an increase in domestic violence (and consequently child abuse and neglect). Many countries have reported increased usage of such helplines (e.g. World Vision 2020a; Rauhaus et al. 2020). Indications for an increased usage of advisory helplines is, without doubt, an important alarm signal. In Germany, the Ministry for Families reported increased usage of the national child protection hotline already at the end of March. In comparison to the previous month, the number of phone calls from parents increased by 21% and the number of online chats with children by 16% (BMFSFJ 2020), and both increased considerably again in April (Nummer gegen Kummer 2020). However, there is a danger of misinterpreting this indicator. It should be noted that the number of consultations already increased by 35% from 2018 to 2019 (ibid.). Furthermore, alternative explanations are credible in a developed welfare state with differentiated local infrastructure for specialized support and advice services, as in Germany. The increased number of calls to crisis helplines could at least partially be a consequence of a substitution effect: since local support infrastructure was not available during the lockdown, supraregional structures (such as national crisis helplines) were used instead. Due to local closures, some services at the local level explicitly advised their users to use national services offering support remotely (NZFH 2020). This means that it is difficult to determine what really led to the increased number of calls to advisory and counselling helplines.

With regard to the related topic of intimate partner violence, Kaukinen (2020) also warns against drawing conclusions too quickly. In a differentiated reflection she shows how complex and multifaceted the topic is and, consequently, how difficult it is to draw robust conclusions.

Uncertainty applies also to local data from Germany. For example, the child protection emergency clinic at Berlin's Charité hospital – a medical diagnostic centre for child abuse and neglect in Berlin – reported an increase of 23% in diagnosed and confirmed cases of child abuse in the first six months of 2020. However, the (semi-) professional publication contained neither absolute case numbers nor information on the situation in the whole city (aertzeblatt.de 2020). Violence against women and children was also recorded in a study by the Technical University of Munich (Steinert/Ebert 2020). The study's ability to show an effect of the pandemic is limited by the lack of comparable data collected in the same fashion before the pandemic.

3.2.2 Uncertainty regarding the capacities of local social and educational services

In child protection, everyday institutions providing social services, healthcare and education assume an important role both nationally and internationally (Breimo et al. 2017). Paediatricians, schools, ECEC facilities, community centres or youth clubs as well as a tight-knit networks of professional advisory and counselling services offer children, young people and families, among other things, advice and support in coping with psychosocial adversity. In this way they contribute to defusing tension and conflict before they escalate and cumulate in violence. Furthermore, in Germany these institutions of a local social infrastructure also explicitly function as actors in child protection and are required by law to actively follow up on reports or indications of child abuse and neglect, to initiate contact with the parents and, if necessary, inform the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities. From the perspective of Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, these everyday institutions are therefore important child protection intermediaries, standing between the social workers working for the offices and the families, and fulfilling two important functions: direct support and information provision.

During the general lockdown, not only schools and ECEC facilities had to close but also most of the other everyday institutions had to suspend their operations or, as paediatricians reported, were consulted less often (BVKJ 2020). In a survey of about 1,000 providers active in social and healthcare services in Germany, 43% of those offering facilities for child and youth welfare stated that they were operating at lower capacity during the pandemic. Roughly one quarter reported an unchanged capacity, a good tenth reported increased demand and one fifth was unable to quantify changes in demand for their services. The principal reason for the reduced demand given by providers from the health and social care sectors questioned was legal restrictions, primarily social distancing provisions (Bank für Sozialwirtschaft 2020). A reduction in operating capacity does not mean that the facilities were closed to service users. The majority of respondents to an online survey of 1,862 professionals working in different fields and organizations in social work in Germany stated that their facilities remained open to service users during the lockdown. Only around one tenth reported a complete closure (Meyer/Buschle 2020). In order to properly understand these findings it is important to note that the respondents worked for very different organizations including residential facilities and ECEC facilities providing childcare for key workers, which therefore had to remain open.

Even if the facilities were closed, contact to service users was often maintained. Institutions such as schools and numerous advisory and counselling services as well as youth clubs adapted their way of working to the changed social rules and provided their services remotely, especially via digital media. Three quarters of the respondents to Buschle and Meyer's (2020) study still had contact to their service users. In contrast with the pre-Corona period, they reported 50% fewer face-to-face contacts, but a fourfold increase from two to eight percent in video chats and an increase in text chats from seven to ten percent. Communication via phone and email – the most important communication channels during the lockdown – also increased slightly. However, the proportion of respondents who stated that they did not have any contact to their service users increased nearly four and half times. Two thirds of respondents viewed the changes in communication critically (ibid.).

The studies presented here show a heterogeneous picture but underscore that for social services of all kinds the lockdown has meant a severe interruption of established work routines and great uncertainty, and that the organizations are reacting by developing new strategies (Shi et al. 2020 for NGOs in the USA). For Germany, the restricted or changed way of operating of the various social and educational services affects local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in that the latter can hardly assess to what extent everyday support can still be realized and thus contribute to relieving stress. Furthermore, interrupting psychosocial support services (also those outside the field of child and youth welfare services) because of the corona-virus can lead to an accumulation of problems, as international studies show (Vostanis/Bell 2020; Wilke et al. 2020).

Furthermore, local social and educational services function as actors reporting children suspected to be at risk to the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities. Debates within German social work identified the loss of schools, ECEC facilities etc. as potential sources for such reports as a major problem for maintaining child protection during the pandemic (Zitelmann et al. 2020). However, in recent years less than one third of reports were made by these services. According to the official German statistics on child and youth welfare services, in 2018 about 11% of reports of suspected children at risk came from schools, 10% from facilities providing child and youth welfare services, including ECEC facilities, and 6% from healthcare facilities. The most important actors reporting suspected child maltreatment to the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities are the police and the judicial system, who made one quarter of all reports (Statistisches Bundesamt 2020). At least for the police it can be assumed that their way of working was not impeded, rather the measures introduced to contain the pandemic probably did not lead to a reduction in their duties but shifted the focus, e.g. due to changes in crime patterns (Stickle/Felson 2020 for the USA).

3.2.3 Uncertainty arising from changed communication and working methods in the Child and Youth Welfare Services

Uncertainty regarding the capacities of local social and educational services arises to a not negligible extent from uncertainty about the extent to which such intermediaries can realize their direct and indirect child protection function, given their changed working methods due to the measures for containing the pandemic. Local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities are also affected in the same way by the pandemic in their child protection work. Reducing the number of contacts to other people through social distancing is a particular challenge for human services organizations. This arises from the fact that people are the 'raw material' these organizations work with (Perrow 1967, Hasenfeld 2010a). Furthermore, relationships and communication are the principal 'technologies' human service organizations use to realize their purpose (e.g. Jones 2020; Ingram/Smith 2018; Hasenfeld 2010b; Howe 1998; for child protection already Kempe/Kempe 1978; for social work in general already Richmond 1922). Finally, their job can only be done with the co-productive participation of service users (Ostrom 1996; Whitaker 1980). The working methods of human services organizations are thus particularly affected by social distancing and they are forced to adapt their core working methods.

The challenges start with the requirement that, in order to switch to digital communication, both professionals and service users must possess both the necessary devices as well as the skills to use them, which cannot simply be assumed (Hitchings/Maclean 2020; Turner 2020). Digital communication brings additional challenges for the professionals because their existing communicative competences cannot be employed to their full extent and have to be adapted. Furthermore, only some communication channels and therefore information are available when interacting remotely via media (McBeath et al. 2020; Byrne/Kiwan 2019; Richards/Viagó 2013; Bambling et al. 2008). Especially in the field of child protection it is recommended to use all five senses, which is probably also connected with the great importance of intuitive decision-making processes. "It is hard to assess conditions in a home, the state of all family members or to detect potentially abusive relationships or whether service users may be lying or exaggerating without being able to see people, look them in the eye in real life, or smell and feel the living space" (Banks et al. 2020, p. 7). Broadhurst and Manson (2012) use the concept of "co-presence" to capture the important qualities of face-to-face communication. With reference to Zhao (2003) they elaborate "that it is only corporeal co-presence that offers access to fully embodied communication. It is the rich contextual detail of co-presence that enables individuals to sense what is happening (...). [T]hrough co-present interaction, knowledge and understanding of the other are felt and not just known in abstract ways" (p. 580-1).

The problems associated with purely remote interaction include establishing a viable working relationship (Tregeagle/Dary 2008; Cook/Zschomler 2020) and building new relationships, especially to service users with mental health issues (Nisanci et al. 2020). This is also related to the fact that confidentiality is more difficult to establish in remote interactions, because it cannot be ruled out that other people are listening in (Turell 2020; Banks et al. 2020). By drawing on findings that precede the current pandemic and considering the general state of research on forms of remote

communication in psychosocial fields, advantages can be discovered in these forms of interaction, even if they are outweighed by the difficulties (e.g. Richards/Vinagó 2013; Bambling et al. 2008). Being forced to use digital forms of communication can also create new opportunities, especially when communicating with youths (Levine et al. 2020; Cook/Zschomler 2020; Turner 2016).

Challenges are not just associated with remote forms of communication. Other measures such as wearing masks and staying at a distance can also affect communication and relationship building. The effects on decision-making in child protection are also likely to be significant. Child protection is still largely characterized by interventions in service users' direct living environments. The professionals literally go to where it hurts (for the children). Home visits are an established part of the inventory of child protection practitioners (Ferguson 2016, 2018). In 2013 for example, local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in Germany made home visits in 83% of child protection cases (Urban-Stahl et al. 2018). Greater than usual challenges are associated with conducting home visits while maintaining compliance with stipulations for infection control and can lead to anxiety, uncertainty and resistance on the part of both professionals and families.

Finally, the stipulations for social distancing not only affect the co-productive process of service provision between professionals and service users but also collegial exchanges and work based on collegial co-production (Roesch-March 2016). In Germany, collegial decision-making is one of the most important, federally mandated standards in child protection work. This form of collegial discussion has also been affected by the measures to contain the pandemic. Nearly one half of the professionals from different fields of social work who participated in Buschle and Meyer's survey said that during the pandemic they had fewer discussions with colleagues. Several participants even believe that this limitation could mean that child protection standards can no longer be maintained (Meyer/Buschle 2020, p. 17).

In addition to these communicative challenges resulting primarily from the special character of social services work, local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, as well as many other organizations, were confronted with personnel and logistic challenges during the lockdown. Staff shortages can arise due to employees having to supervise and teach their children after schools and ECEC facilities closed, due to illness or quarantine, or because they belong to an at-risk group. Furthermore, actions that are compliant with the anti-coronavirus measures take more time (e.g. putting on protective clothing, remote working or coordinating work processes) and thus bind more resources. Of the professionals questioned by Buschle and Meyer, 43% reported an increase in the number of work steps during the pandemic. Social work organizations, as other employers as well, are required to organize work so as to minimize risks to their workforce (Switzer et al. 2020). This leads to various logistical challenges: the provision of personal protective equipment (PPE), as demanded by international professional organizations (UNICEF et al. 2020), was described both nationally and internationally as partially inadequate, especially at the beginning of the pandemic (Buschle/Meyer 2020; Truell 2020; Nyashanu et al. 2020). A further challenge is to facilitate and organize forms of remote working, especially the hardand software for digital communication with service users, colleagues and supervisors. Thirty percent of the respondents in Buschle and Meyer's (2020) survey stated

that at the start of the lockdown their organization did not have the technical capacities for remote working. Finally, organizations are also required to inform their staff about current developments and changing rules, which is a difficult task, not least due to the great uncertainty of the highly dynamic situation (Shi et al. 2020).

3.2.4 Uncertainty about the availability of local child and youth welfare services

If parents need support or if an intervention is necessary to protect a child, then usually additional actors are involved. In the German dual welfare state, support services are usually provided by non-governmental organizations. This is the case for in-home parenting support, residential homes or short-term emergency placements. Since child protection is an issue field involving numerous actors, Child and Youth Welfare Authorities are dependent on other institutions in fulfilling their child protection duties. Consequently, when the pandemic disrupts the functioning of these other organizations, actions taken by local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities to protect children can be directly hindered - for example when court hearings are temporarily postponed or if residential facilities are not accepting any new children. After all, courts or service providers are also confronted with the communicative, personnel and logistical challenges described above.⁴ A survey of professionals working in care homes in England, for example, found that shortages of PPE, anxiety among service users and staff, difficulties in implementing social distancing rules, staff shortages and constantly changing rules posed additional challenges to their normal work (Nayashana et al. 2020). Residential care facilities for children are likely to face the same challenges. Furthermore, when young people are newly admitted to residential settings, they might have to be quarantined, i.e. isolated, which may also mean re-organizing staff schedules.

⁴ In addition to the communicative, personnel and logistical challenges previously described, the mostly non-governmental providers of services and support are also faced with financial challenges, such as questions of refinancing the residential places or services that remained unused due to social distancing restrictions. Although national and state government quickly organized financial aid for social facilities, the service providers are still confronted with great uncertainty. Additionally, accessing financial aid is associated with high bureaucratic barriers (Bank für Sozialwirtschaft 2020).

On the whole, considering the four aspects described above suggests that there is a trade-off between professional standards on the one hand and the stipulations or framework for working in a pandemic situation on the other. The additional challenges of the pandemic exacerbate the existing challenges of dealing with uncertainty and balancing contradictions. Banks et al. (2020) describe similar challenges in their international study on social work during COVID-19, identifying six key ethical challenges of working in the pandemic.⁵

5 The study was conducted by the International Federation of Social Workers (IFSW). Questionnaires were returned by 607 social workers from all continents, supplemented by 11 interviews with social workers in China. One result of the study were six ethical challenges of the coronavirus pandemic: 1. Creating and maintaining trusting, honest and empathic relationships via phone or internet with due regard to privacy and confidentiality, or in person with protective equipment. 2. Prioritizing service user needs and demands, which are greater and different due to the pandemic, when resources are stretched/unavailable and full assessments are often not possible. 3. Balancing service user rights, needs and risks against personal risk to social workers and others, in order to provide services as well as possible. 4. Deciding whether to follow national and organizational policies, procedures or guidance (existing or new) or to use professional discretion in circumstances where the policies seem inappropriate, confused or lacking. 5. Acknowledging and handling emotions, fatigue and the need for self-care, when working in unsafe and stressful circumstances. 6. Using the lessons learned from working during the pandemic to rethink social work in the future.

4 Empirical Study: Statutory child protection during the corona pandemic in Germany

Given the situation described above, the project "Child and Youth Welfare Services and Social Change" at the German Youth Institute (Deutsches Jugendinstitut, DJI) in Munich conducted a brief empirical survey on the work of local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in Germany during the first wave of the coronavirus pandemic in spring 2020. The aim of the study was to find out which effects the coronavirus pandemic was having on the different areas of child and youth welfare. One of the areas surveyed was child protection. The survey was addressed to local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities because these institutions are responsible for delivering municipal child and youth welfare services and as such are best placed to assess the situation at the local level. In what follows, we first describe the study design (4.1). In the next section, we briefly describe the field under study (4.2). In the results section we present our findings on how local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities perceive the situation and explain their perceptions, how Child and Youth Welfare Authorities handle child protection cases during the pandemic and which support measures they initiated. Furthermore, we briefly presents findings on central challenges of the pandemic (4.3).

4.1 Design of the study

The survey of all 575 local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in Germany was conducted between 23 April and 12 May 2020, i.e. in the period before the initial tough measures for containing the coronavirus pandemic were loosened. A total of 373 organizations participated in the survey, i.e. the response rate was 65%.

The study was designed as a survey of organizations in order to capture the organizational perspective. Data were collected by means of a closed online survey employing the tool Limesurvey. The invitation to participate was sent with a personalized link to the head of each local Child and Youth Welfare Authority who ought to have responded as a representative of the organization. Since the project regularly conducts these types of surveys with these organizations, the respondents are familiar with this research perspective. Furthermore, previous studies have shown that the respondents trust in the integrity of the DJI and have regularly provided information on problematic situations and even legal infringements. Therefore, we can also assume for this study that social desirability only played a very minor role in answering the questions.

All findings presented here refer only to the level of the organization or municipality, and not to individual cases (children, youths and parents). Given their responsibility for ensuring provision of child and youth welfare services, local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities are well-positioned for providing an overview of the situation in each local authority area, even though numerous additional actors are involved in directly providing the services.

Following the initial invitation, two reminder emails were sent to the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities. The survey tool made it possible to interrupt questionnaire completion and return to it at a later time. The collection and processing of the information on the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities was completely in accordance with EU and German data protection laws. The authorities responding were made aware of relevant aspects relating to data protection and they explicitly consented to their data being used by the project.

A range of sources and experience were drawn on in developing the survey instrument: a review of current discussions, empirical findings on the work of the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, discussions with practitioners as well as the expertise within the project itself, which since the early 1990s has been investigating the services, structures and developments in child and youth welfare by means of qualitative and quantitative empirical studies. The questionnaire was pre-tested in the field before being rolled out.

The survey instrument was deliberately kept short so as to not unnecessarily burden local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities during what was likely to be a very difficult time. It covered the topics of providing support to the public, child protection and means of communication with service users. There were questions on both services, proceedings and case numbers as well as on the organization itself and personal assessments. In addition to closed questions with single or multiple answer options, it was also possible to include additional aspects and to comment on the questions and the answers given. The study only questioned organizations about their view on the situation. There were no questions on individual aspects of the work.

In contrast with other surveys involving local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in Germany (Gandlgruber 2019), the response rate of 65% can be considered high. To test for selection bias between the population and the responding Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, two regional characteristics of their catchment areas, namely federal state and type of local authority (town, rural district or rural parishes with their own Child and Youth Welfare Authorities) were analysed. Although there was a slight over-representation of West German local authorities (for more details see [our study]), we can still assume that on the whole the results provide a good portrayal of the situation in local child and youth welfare in Germany.

The data were analysed with descriptive statistical methods using IBM-SSPS 23. Results are considered significant if the probability of error is p < .05.

4.2 The field under study

In Germany, as in all high-income countries, protecting children from abuse and neglect is considered an important task (Jud et al. 2013) for which all of society bears responsibility. However, the German welfare state does not prescribe one formal child protection system nor specific child protection services. Instead, "[t]here is an interwoven structure between many different institutions with legal obligations to protect children from maltreatment and to offer help and support if they have been maltreated. But all of these institutions have broader roles and tasks in child and youth welfare. None is focused exclusively on child endangerment or child protection in the narrow sense" (Witte et al. 2019, p. 100).

The local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities are considered the "organizational heart" (Deutscher Bundestag 2013, p. 562) of the child and youth welfare system and play a key role in child protection in Germany (Witte et al. 2019; Kelly et al. 2011). They are responsible for fulfilling the state's role in watching over parents' rights and duties in raising their children, as formulated in Article 6 of the Basic Law. They are the institution where concerns that a child is at risk of significant harm are reported, they investigate the reports, they take children and young people into emergency care and accommodate them temporarily if necessary, they assess and determine the need for protection and support with the participation of the service users, they offer in-home services und out-of-home services for families and, if necessary, initiate proceedings at the Family Court to rule on curtailments of the parents' rights. In contrast, services designed to prevent harm to children or to support parents are usually provided by non-governmental organizations (Kelly et al. 2011). In addition to their responsibilities for child protection, local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities also fulfil a broad spectrum of other duties. These include advisory services for children, youth and parents as well as coordinating local provision of ECEC and youth work.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Perception of risks

Professional and public discourse conjectured that child abuse and neglect would increase during the pandemic and consequently the number of child protection cases would also rise. However, over half of the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities (55%) said that there had been no change in the number of reported cases of suspected child abuse or neglect since the start of the pandemic. One quarter of the organizations reported a drop in numbers and only 5% an increase. However, 16% were not able to make a definitive statement about the number of cases, which highlights the high levels of uncertainty in the current situation. On average, this latter group of Child and Youth Welfare Authorities considered ensuring child protection during the pandemic to be a greater challenge than those Child and Youth Welfare Authorities that observed a change in case numbers. The Child and Youth Welfare Authorities that reported no change in the number of cases rate this challenge the lowest.

The local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities were given the opportunity to comment on developments in the number of reported cases of suspected child abuse or neglect. One fifth added a comment. Some participants expressed their concern that due to the closure of schools and ECEC facilities, 'early warning systems' in the community were probably less effective and possibly the number of hidden cases has risen. Other statements report similar sentiments, describing 'a strange gut-feeling' and worries that children at risk would only be identified later or not at all. Some respondents reported their impression that the lockdown also had stress-reducing effects in families because there was less pressure from stressors such as school and work. Other organizations experienced a shift in who reported child protection concerns, with more neighbours and families themselves initiating contact. Overall, the respondents' comments exhibit great heterogeneity in their perceptions, and actors with leadership responsibility offer very different explanations for the data.

4.3.2 Child Protection Work

During the lockdown, many local authorities closed their offices to the public and focused their work on their key duties. Given this situation, our survey asked which of their various duties the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities still performed during the lockdown. Without exception, they name child protection as a duty they continued to fulfil during lockdown, and usually other duties too. Two fifths reported that during the lockdown there were no substantial limitations on the range of services offered. However, many Child and Youth Welfare Authorities reported that, on the one hand, in order to deliver services they had to resort to different communication channels. Personal contact to service users was, as far as possible, substituted with forms of remote communication. On the other hand, some Child and Youth Welfare Authorities reported setting priorities differently. This means that they can maintain a full spectrum of services, but only for the cases considered most important. When such priorities are set, child protection always comes out on top. For example, 37% of Child and Youth Welfare Authorities reported that during the lockdown care plans were only drawn up in cases where there was a suspicion of child abuse or neglect.

Furthermore, 99% of Child and Youth Welfare Authorities stated that during the pandemic they were able to fulfil the legal requirement to gain a personal impression of the child and their living situation. Nearly all Child and Youth Welfare Authorities (98%) conducted home visits to this end. Half of the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities (49%) said that they invited families to their offices, 13% used digital media to gain an impression, and 6% used other strategies. The question was phrased to find out which strategies the organizations generally use during the lockdown, which does not mean that they always used these strategies to the same extent as before the lockdown. The question implied that the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities could use more than one strategy to gain an impression of the child and their living conditions.

 Table 1: Proportion of local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities according to type of visual appraisal (Combinations of types)

Type of visual appraisal	Share of CYWA
Exclusively home visits	46 %
Home visits and appointments in the office	39 %
Home visits and/or office appointments and digital media	13 %
Exclusively office appointments	1 %
Other	1 %

n=345

Source: Mairhofer et al. 2020, p. 37

Table 1 shows which and how many types of visual appraisal local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities use. In 46% of Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, visual appraisal is exclusively by home visit. Two fifths use a combination of home visits and office appointments. The phrasing of the question does not allow for further differentiation of the combination in individual cases, for example in how many cases there was no home visit or in how many cases a family was visited at home and also invited to the office. Thirteen percent of Child and Youth Welfare Authorities use digital media in addition to home visits and office appointments. None of the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities exclusively used digital media for assessing whether a child was at risk of harm. Here it cannot be ruled out that some of the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities using digital media employ this as the only means of contacting families in individual cases. Whether the different types of visual assessment form a stepwise procedure also remains an open question, e.g. initial contact via digital media then, depending on the impression gained or the result, a second face-to-face contact. In one percent of Child and Youth Welfare Authorities visual assessments are made exclusively in their offices.

Studies on the significance of co-presence interactions suggest that the quality of situational assessments in child protections cases varies according to which communication channels are used. It can be postulated that, for example, if there is no face-to-face contact then uncertainty about the decision is greater. The findings of our study confirm this association. Local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities who stated that they did not have direct contact to service users during the lockdown also stated to a significantly higher proportion that recognizing support needs and realizing child protection were a great challenge. It is certainly possible to interpret these relationships as implying that not having personal contact to service users is considered risky and problematic. One reason for not having contact to service users ers could be the lack of PPE. Local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities that did not have personal contact to service users also, on average, described the availability of PPE as a significantly greater challenge during the pandemic. There could just as well be factors on the part of service users that prevented personal contact, such as fear of infection or attempts to exploit the general situation of uncertainty to avoid

interacting with the Child and Youth Welfare Authority. Since child protection is organized in networks, not only the communication channels used by local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities are relevant, but also those of the other institutions involved. We can empirically show that Child and Youth Welfare Authorities who were aware that support and advisory services were closed to users during the lockdown, consider ensuring child protection to be a significantly greater problem.

Possible reactions to increased uncertainty arising from different or restricted communication channels include strategies aimed at increasing the spread and the reach of the available communication channels. For instance, 89% of Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in our study said they provided the public with more information on support and advisory services during the lockdown, and 46% made additional resources available for online, telephone and chat advice. To counter interrupted communication channels and the lack of depth in communication due to social distancing, new services are being established with new means of access. Thus, a substitution of currently limited communication channels and services as well as an expansion are taking place.

Services provided: Local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities have a range of options for protecting children who are at risk of harm. If a child or youth is acutely at risk of abuse or neglect, Child and Youth Welfare Authorities can take them into emergency care and temporarily accommodate them. These temporary protective measures are to be implemented when the young person requests them, when there is a threat to the well-being of the child, for instance if they are the victim of domestic violence, or are alone in a place deemed 'dangerous', or if they enter Germany as an unaccompanied minor. Of the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities we questioned for our study, 99% said that, if necessary, children and young people were taken into emergency care during the lockdown.

We also asked local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities to estimate how the number of cases of children and young people being taken into emergency care had developed since the measures for combatting the pandemic came into force. Two thirds of the organizations said that the numbers had remained unchanged, 19% reported a fall, 2% an increase and 14% were unable to say. Taking children into care is a measure that can be initiated by local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities when a suspicion of child abuse or neglect is confirmed. In addition, young people can also be taken into emergency care for other reasons. Consequently, the number of suspected cases reported and the number of children and young people taken into emergency care can both be considered indicators for problematic situations in families and for young people. With regard to how suspected cases of child maltreatment are processed by local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, the two indicators are only loosely coupled. In our study there is a highly significant relationship between the two items. Of the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities stating that the number of reports of possible child abuse or neglect declined, 68% also reported taking fewer children into care. Of the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities stating that there was no decline in reports of possible child abuse or neglect, only 25% report a drop in the number of children taken into care. Similar relations exist for Child and Youth Welfare Authorities reporting an increase in cases (57%) vs. 4%), stagnating numbers (69% vs. 35%) and uncertainty about the trend (49%

vs. 10%). This finding can be partially attributed to the reliable processing of child protection cases by local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities so that a change in the input (number of reports) leads to a corresponding change in the output (number of children taken into care). The finding can also be partially understood as an indication of how the respondents evaluate the current situation in families, especially in the light of their additional comments.

While taking children into emergency care is a short-term, temporary child protection measure, a range of in-home and out-of-home services aim to prevent child abuse and neglect in the long term. Many local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities implemented such measures during the pandemic: 95% of the organizations started residential care measures, 91% in-home services. Three percent reported that residential support could not begin because they were currently unable to find a service provider. This proportion is surprisingly small given the efforts associated with initiating residential support while complying with the stipulations for infection control. Looking at all the measures introduced by local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities during the lockdown reveals a gradient skewed towards favouring strong interventions to directly protect children from abuse and neglect. Practically all local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities still took children into care to remove them from a situation of acute threat. Furthermore, a clear majority also initiated residential accommodation, the most intensive child and youth welfare service. Lower down the list is in-home support, which is mainly preventative but also aims to protect children, although with lower intensity than the previously mentioned measures. Early Prevention Programmes, aimed at supporting expectant and new parents in order to prevent child abuse or neglect, were only started by 75% of local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities. Support measures not related to child protection were initiated less often, for instance for integrating young people into the labour market (69%). These findings highlight how strongly local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities prioritized child protection during the lockdown under conditions of heightened uncertainty. Before drawing further conclusions from these results it should be noted that local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities were only asked which support measures they had initiated. They were not asked whether these measures were implemented to the same extent as before the lockdown, nor whether they had initiated all necessary measures.

4.3.3 Major challenges

Given a list of twelve challenges associated with the pandemic, local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities rated the problem of being able to recognize and prioritize current care needs as the greatest challenge (mean 5.7).⁶ The challenge of ensuring child protection was ranked fifth with a mean of 4.0. Local Child and Youth

⁶ The local Children and Youth welfare offices were asked to rate how problematic each challenge was for them using an 11-point scale. The endpoints of the scale were 0 "not at all problematic" and 10 "highly problematic".

Welfare Authorities found it more problematic to maintain participation of service users, to organize PPE and to cope with technical challenges (see table 2).

Table 2: Children and youth welfare offices' assessment of challenges posed by the corona pandemic

Challenge	Mean	
Identify and prioritize current care needs		
Maintaining service users' participation		
Organizing PPE		
Cope with technical challenges		
Ensuring child protection		
Ensuring the financial survival of providers of outpatient care		
Cooperating with the health care sector		
Achieve understanding for the current challenges in child welfare in local government		
Compensate for current staff absences due to illness, quarantine etc.		
Ensuring the financial survival of providers of residential care		
Ensure/establish emergency services		
Comply with the professional staffing standards		

n=350

Source: Mairhofer et al. 2020, p. 58

As the table 2 shows, the children and youth welfare offices rate professional challenges (needs assessment, participation, child protection) and logistical challenges (PPE, ICT) as particularly problematic. Funding-related and staff-related challenges, were rated as less problematic at the time.

On the one hand, the rankings can be related to how relevant or difficult the topic is considered to be. On the other hand, they can also be the result of assessing the difficulty of the task in relation to the options available for dealing with the difficulty. On the whole, the respondents tended to make similar assessments of the different challenges. Except for the items 'recognizing needs' and 'coping with staff shortages', the item ratings correlate significantly with each other. The highest correlation is between the items 'ensuring child protection' and 'recognizing and prioritizing support needs' (r=.505; p < .001), as well as the challenges of 'ensuring child protection' and 'maintaining service users' participation'.

5 Discussion

Local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in Germany fulfil many duties. The findings from our study of local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities' operations during the coronavirus pandemic show that duties related to child protection were given clear priority. Our data have shown repeatedly that a suspicion of child abuse or neglect is the key criterion for prioritizing tasks and cases in local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities.

Local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities do not consider ensuring child protection to be the greatest challenge of the pandemic, but rather recognizing and prioritizing current support needs among children, young people and families. This should not be interpreted to mean that ensuring child protection does not have a high priority in local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities. Instead, it is far more an expression of the institutional logic of a family and service orientation in the German system of child and youth welfare services that considers support services and child protection as two sides of the same coin. Finding it difficult to recognize and prioritize support needs simultaneously entails difficulties in acting to protect children from abuse and neglect. Therefore, it is always (but not only) about child protection. This is underscored by the high correlation in the rating of the items for recognizing support needs and child protection as challenges. Furthermore, as our data clearly show, challenges in using digital communication (and the associated technological requirements) or the availability of PPE are also challenges for child protection work. They make it harder to maintain professional standards and routines in child protection, such as home visits, serious conversations with children and families or case conferences.

The exceptional lockdown situation increases the demands and complexity of child protection work because it creates new challenges and new tensions that need to be compensated for - in addition to the already existing ambivalences. These include balancing social distancing to protect colleagues and service users with professional standards for interaction and closeness. Furthermore, our findings show that the uncertainty that is constitutive for child protection has increased during the coronavirus pandemic, not least as a result of the additional tensions. Maintaining social distance and communicating differently mean that channels for communication and perception are reduced and blocked. This reduces the amount of information available for rational decision-making processes, but also the number of impulses that can initiate intuitive judgements. This means that the usual ways of making assessments in child protection are blocked. Uncertainty is especially apparent in the many and sometimes highly detailed comments made by the study participants, but also in the closed questions, for instance on developments in case numbers. However, uncertainty is particularly evident in the respondents' clear rating of their greatest challenge: being able to recognize care needs, i.e. uncertainty regarding the living conditions of children, young people and families.

Recently, initial findings have been made available from a survey on child protection cases in the months May and June (Mühlmann/Pothmann 2020), commissioned by the Federal Family Ministry. However, only 28% of local Child and Youth Welfare

Authorities responded. The study concluded that in these local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities, compared to the same months in previous years, both the absolute number of child protection cases as well as the number per 10,000 young people remained stable in May and sank slightly in June. These figures on the number of active child protection cases confirm the stability in the development in case numbers shown by our study. However, in the Ministry's survey the stability arises from calculating average values. Of the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities surveyed, only a minority of 14% reported an equally high number of cases in May as in previous years. In the majority, the case numbers either fell (42%) or rose (44%). Even if the survey's validity should be viewed with caution because of the low response rate, two findings are surprising: First, after schools and ECEC facilities were re-opened the much anticipated increase in case numbers obviously did not materialize. Second, findings relating to actors reporting suspected cases of child abuse and neglect show that during the lockdown the proportion of reports from schools, ECEC facilities and paediatricians fell only slightly. Obviously, these 'early warning systems' still functioned during lockdown. In contrast, the number of reports made by the police and the justice system rose as expected. At least in light of the case numbers presented by Mühlmann and Pothmann (2020), the fears expressed by many local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in our survey have not been confirmed.

It is possible that this finding is a result of the high priority that the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities assign to child protection – not only during lockdown. Nevertheless, a substantial increase in psychological stress has been reported in Germany during the lockdown, especially among young people (Ravens-Sieberer 2020). Currently, this greater stress has not led to an increase in the number of child protection cases dealt with by the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities that is greater than the usual annual growth rate (Mühlmann 2021). But it obviously leads to a greater need for psychotherapy, especially among children and young people (Rabe-Menssen 2021).

6 Limitations

Our findings are subject to several limitations. Although great care was taken and a broad range of journals and other publications were included in the overview of current research and discussions, a systematic literature review was not conducted. The results of our empirical study can be generalized for local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities in Germany, but only offer findings on some aspects of how child protection duties are being fulfilled in these organizations. This is because the survey was deliberately kept short so as not to overtax limited organizational resources in a pandemic situation.

Using an institutional approach, the study was conducted from the perspective of organizational research. The view on the field of child protection was taken, so to speak, through the eyes of the local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities. Consequently, we could only see and present child protection activities and perceptions as they were related to us by local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities as collective actors (organizations). The data therefore do not permit us to draw conclusions on the situation of children, young people and families during the pandemic. Our research is just as uncertain about this situation as the organizations we questioned were. Furthermore, we do not take an evaluative perspective. We can say, on the basis of our findings, that local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities gave priority to ensuring child protection during the lockdown. However, it is not possible to say whether these efforts were sufficient, successful, or in short, good or bad. Furthermore, many questions in the survey only asked about the situation during the pandemic, but not whether the situation had changed compared to the situation before the pandemic, which limits the validity of the findings. When changes caused by the pandemic were recorded, the assessment was made by the organizational actor who responded and not on the basis of comparing data collected before and during the pandemic. Finally, given the chosen method of a quantitative survey of organizations, it follows that only statements on formal structures and positions of the organization or those of actors with leadership responsibility could be collected. As is frequently pointed out, the formal structure surveyed is usually only loosely coupled with the organization's activities, i.e. with the everyday practice and perspectives of those employees who implement the organization's mission on the frontline (cf. Meyer/Rowan 1977). Therefore, the actions of the frontline professionals under the changed conditions of the pandemic, the effects these had for service users and which challenges the professionals perceive can vary greatly from the challenges identified in this study. Studies on the working methods and views of professionals in the Child and Youth Welfare Authorities show a large degree of heterogeneity (Bode/Turba 2014; Mairhofer 2020). This probably also applies to their work during the pandemic.

Considering this background, a significant expansion of research on working during the pandemic as well as the perception and handling of the challenges associated with it seems necessary. The aspirations of our study were more modest. Firstly, we wanted to gain an empirical impression of the child and youth welfare services system, including child protection, during the pandemic to rapidly provide an empirical foundation for a discussion that has been characterized by speculation. The study has shown that during the pandemic local Child and Youth Welfare Authorities have managed to keep their child protection work going. The results show that uncertainty and ambiguity, as the essential unavoidable determinants of child protection work, have been multiplied by the pandemic situation. Both the pandemic and the measures to contain it produce new uncertainty and tensions that the organizations and their staff have to withstand and work through. In this regard, many of the organizations we surveyed show a high level of sensitivity and self-reflection, they acknowledge the problems rather than resting on a sense of false security. Even if uncertainty and ambiguity can never be eliminated, strategies are still necessary that will help organizations and professionals cope better with the challenges posed by exceptional circumstances, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, and so better protect children and young people from abuse and neglect.

7 References

- aerzteblatt.de (2020). Mehr häusliche Gewalt und Kindesmisshandlungen im Zuge der Pandemie: Meldung vom 03.07.2020. Retrieved from https://www.aerzteblatt.de/nachrichten/114355
- Andresen, S., Lips, A., Möller, R., Rusack, T., Schröer, W., Thomas, S., & Wilmes, J. (2020). Erfahrungen und Perspektiven von jungen Menschen während der Corona-Maßnahmen. Hildesheim.
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005): Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. In: International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 8(1), 19–32
- Arnout, B., Samir, Z., & Al Eid, N. (2020). The Effects of Corona Virus (COVID-19) Outbreak on the Individuals'. International Journal of Medical Research & Health Sciences, 9(3), 26–47.
- Bambling, M., King, R., Reid, W., & Wegner, K. (2008). Online counselling: The experience of counsellors providing synchronous single-session counselling to young people. Counselling and Psychotherapy Research, 8(2), 110–116.
- Bank für Sozialwirtschaft (2020). Befragung zu den wirtschaftlichen Auswirkungen der Corona-Pandemie auf das Sozial- und Gesundheitswesen. Cologne.
- Banks, S., Cai, T., Jonge, E. de, Shears, J., Shum, M., Sobočan, A. M., Weinberg, M. (2020). Ethical challenges for social workers during Covid-19: A global perspective. Rheinfelden: IFSW.
- Berufsverband der Kinder- und Jugendärzte e.V. (BVKJ) (2020, April 27). Kinder- und Jugendärzte alarmiert: Eltern meiden Impfungen und Vorsorgeuntersuchungen für ihre Kinder und sogar Arztbesuche mit akut kranken Kindern. [Press release].
- Bode, I. & Turba, H. (2014). Organisierter Kinderschutz in Deutschland. Strukturdynamiken und Modernisierungsparadoxien. Wiesbaden: Springer.
- Bradbury-Jones, C., & Isham, L. (2020). The pandemic paradox: The consequences of COVID-19 on domestic violence. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 29(13-14), 2047–2049.
- Breimo, J. P., Turba, H., Firbank, O., Bode, I., & Sandvin, J. T. (2017). Networking Enforced Comparing Social Services' Collaborative Rationales across Different Welfare Regimes. Social Policy & Administration, 71(7), 1348–1366.
- Broadhurst, K., & Mason, C. (2012). Social Work beyond the VDU: Foregrounding Co-Presence in Situated Practice—Why Face-to-Face Practice Matters. British Journal of Social Work, 44(3), 578–595.
- Broadhurst, K., & Mason, C. (2020). Child removal as the gateway to further adversity: Birth mother accounts of the immediate and enduring collateral consequences of child removal. Qualitative Social Work, 19(1), 15– 37.
- Brooks, S. K./Webster, R. K./Smith, L. E./Woodland, L./Wessely, S./Greenberg, N./Rubin & G. J. (2020): The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it. Rapid review of the evidence. In: The Lancet, 395(10227), 912–920.
- Brown, S. M., Doom, J. R., Lechuga-Peña, S., Watamura, S. E., & Koppels, T. (2020). Stress and parenting during the global COVID-19 pandemic. Child abuse & neglect, 104699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104699
- Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend (BMFSFJ) (2020, March 31). Schutz von Kindern und Jugendlichen vor häuslicher Gewalt: Pressemitteilung vom 31.03.2020 [Press release]. Berlin.
- Buschle, C., & Meyer, N. (2020). Soziale Arbeit im Ausnahmezustand?! Professionstheoretische Forschungsnotizen zur Corona-Pandemie. Soziale Passagen. (12), 155–170.
- Byrne, J., & Kirwan, G. (2019). Relationship-based social work and electronic communication technologies: Anticipation, adaptation and achievement. Journal of Social Work Practice, 33(2), 217–232.
- Campbell, A. M. (2020). An increasing risk of family violence during the Covid-19 pandemic: Strengthening community collaborations to save lives. Forensic Science International: Reports, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsir.2020.100089
- Carr, A., Duff, H., & Craddock, F. (2018a). A Systematic Review of Reviews of the Outcome of Noninstitutional Child Maltreatment. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 21(4), 828–843.
- Carr, A., Duff, H., & Craddock, F. (2018b). A Systematic Review of the Outcome of Child Abuse in Long-Term Care. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 21(4), 660–677.
- Chan, K.L., Chen, Q., Chen, M. (2019). Prevalence and Correlates of the Co-Occurrence of Family Violence. A Meta-Analysis on Family Polyvictimization. In Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 22(2), 289–305.
- Cook, L. L., & Zschomler, D. (2020): Virtual Home Visits during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Social Workers' Perspectives. In: Practice, https://doi.org/10.1080/09503153.2020.1836142
- Deutscher Bundestag (2013). 14. Kinder- und Jugendbericht. Berlin: BMFSFJ.
- Entringer, T., & Kröger, H. (2020). Einsam, aber resilient Die Menschen haben den Lockdown besser verkraftet als vermutet (DIW aktuell No. 46). Berlin.
- Fegert, J., Clemens, V., Berthold, O., & Kölch, M. (2020). Kinderschutz ist systemrelevant Gerade in Zeiten der SARS-CoV-2-Pandemie. Ulm u.a. Retrieved from: www.dijuf.de/Coronavirus-Materialpool.html

- Ferguson, H. (2016). What social workers do in performing child protection work: evidence from research into face-to-face practice. Child and Family Social Work, 21(3), 283–294.
- Ferguson, H. (2018): Making home visits: Creativity and the embodied practices of home visiting in social work and child protection. In: Qualitative Social Work, 17(1), 65–80.
- Gandlgruber, M. (2019): Feldphasen bei Institutionenbefragungen. Herausforderungen und Hinweise zu ihrer Vorbereitung und Durchführung - eine Arbeitshilfe. München: DJI.
- Gilbert, N. (2012): A comparative study of child welfare systems. Abstract orientations and concrete results. In: Children and Youth Services Review, 34(3), 532–536
- Gilbert, N., Parton, N., & Skivenes, M. (2011). Changing patterns of response and emerging trends. In N. Gilbert, N. Parton, & M. Skivenes (Eds.), Child protection systems: International trends and orientations (pp. 243– 258). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Grant, M.J., & Booth, A. (2009): A typology of reviews: an analysis of 14 review types and associated methodologies. Health Information & Libraries Journal, 26(2), 91–108
- Grünberg, K. (2020, March 26). Kinderleid und niemand sieht es mehr: Jugendämter schlagen Alarm wegen Corona-Lockdown. Tagesspiegel. Retrieved from https://www.tagesspiegel.de/themen/reportage/jugendaemter-schlagen-alarm-wegen-corona-lockdown-kinderleid-und-niemand-sieht-es-mehr/25682058.html
- Hasenfeld, Y. (2010a). The Attributes of Human Service Organizations. In Y. Hasenfeld (Ed.), Human services as complex organizations (2nd ed., pp. 9–32). Los Angeles: Sage.
- Hasenfeld, Y. (2010b). Worker-Client-Relations. In Y. Hasenfeld (Ed.), Human services as complex organizations (2nd ed., pp. 405–425). Los Angeles: Sage.
- Head, B. W., & Alford, J. (2015). Wicked Problems: Implications for Public Policy and Management. Administration & Society, 47(6), 711–739.
- Herrenkohl, T. I., Fedina, L., Roberto, K. A., Raquet, K. L., Hu, R. X., Rousson, A. N., & Mason, W. A. (2020). Child Maltreatment, Youth Violence, Intimate Partner Violence, and Elder Mistreatment: A Review and Theoretical Analysis of Research on Violence Across the Life Course. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020939119
- Herrenkohl, T. I., Sousa, C., Tajima, E. A., Herrenkohl, R. C., & Moylan, C. A. (2008). Intersection of Child Abuse and Children's Exposure to Domestic Violence. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 9(2), 84–99.
- Hitchings, E., & Maclean, M. (2020). Unprecedented times: Some thoughts on the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic from a family and social welfare law perspective. Journal of Social Welfare and Family Law, 42(3), 277–280.
- Howe, D. (1998). Relationship-based thinking and practice in social work. Journal of Social Work Practice, 12(1), 45–56.
- Huebener, M., Waights, S., Spieß, C. K., Siegel, N. A., & Wagner, G. G. (2020). Parental Well-Being in Times of Covid-19 in Germany (SOEPPapers No. 1099). Berlin.
- Ingram, R., & Smith, M. (2018). Relationship-based practice: emergent themes in social work literature (Insights. No. 41).
- Institute of Medicine (IOM), & National Research Council (NRC) (2014). New Directions in Child Abuse and Neglect Research. Washington DC: The National Academies Press.
- Jones, D. N. (2020). Global Overview. In IASSW, ICFW, & IFSW (Eds.), Global Agenda for Social Work and Social Development: Third Report: Strengthening recognition of the Importance of Human Relationships. (pp. 3–40). Rheinfelden: IFSW.
- Jud, A., Fluke, J., Alink, L. R. A., Allan, K., Fallon, B., Kindler, H., van Puyenbroek, H. (2013). On the nature and scope of reported child maltreatment in high-income countries: Opportunities for improving the evidence base. Paediatrics and International Child Health, 33(4), 207–215.
- Kahneman, D. (2003). Maps of Bounded Rationality: A Perspective on Intuitive Judgment and Choice: Prize Lecture, Dec. 8, 2002. In Tore Frängsmys (Ed.), The Nobel Prizes 2002 (pp. 449-489). Stockholm.
- Kaukinen, C. (2020). When Stay-at-Home Orders Leave Victims Unsafe at Home: Exploring the Risk and Consequences of Intimate Partner Violence during the COVID-19 Pandemic. American Journal of Criminal Justice, 45(4), 668–679.
- Kelly, L., Hagemann-White, C., Meysen, T., & Römkens, R. (2011). Realising rights: Case studies on state responses to violence against women and children in Europe. London: London Metropolitan University.
- Kempe, R. S., & Kempe, C. H. (1978). Child abuse. The developing child series. Cambridge, Mass.: Havard Univ. Press.
- Levac, D., Colquhoun, H., & O'Brien, K.K. (2010): Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. Implementation Science, 5:69
- Levine, D. T., Morton, J., & O'Reilly, M. (2020). Child safety, protection, and safeguarding in the time of COVID-19 in Great Britain: Proposing a conceptual framework. Child abuse & neglect. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104668
- Mairhofer, A. (2020). Formalisierungen in der Sozialen Arbeit. Zur Institutionalisierung methodischer Modernisierungen in den sozialen Diensten. Weinheim: Juventa.

- Mairhofer, A., Peucker, C., Pluto, L., van Santen, E., Seckinger, M., & Gandlgrumer M. (2020). Kinder- und Jugendhilfe in Zeiten der Corona-Pandemie. DJI-Jugendhilfeb@rometer bei Jugendämtern. DJI. München.
- Mairhofer, A., Peucker, C., Pluto, L., & van Santen, E. (2021a). Kinderschutz in Zeiten der Corona-Pandemie. Empirische Ergebnisse einer bundesweiten Erhebung bei Jugendämtern. In: Nervenheilkunde. 40(5), 312-318
- Mairhofer, A., Peucker, C., Pluto, L., & van Santen, E. (2021b). Herausforderungen für Jugendämter in Zeiten der Corona-Pandemie Empirische Hinweise. In: Jugendhilfe. 59(2), 104-112
- Mairhofer, A., Peucker, C., Pluto, L., & van Santen, E. (2021c). Digitale Kommunikation sozialer Dienste mit Jugendlichen in Zeiten der Corona-Pandemie - Herausforderungen und Perspektiven für die Zukunft. In: Gaupp, N., Holthusen, B., Milbradt, B., Lüders, C., & Seckinger, M. (Eds.): Jugend ermöglichen - auch unter den Bedingungen des Pandemieschutzes. Munich, 61-79
- Mansell, J., Ota, R., Erasmus, R., & Marks, K. (2011). Reframing child protection: A response to a constant crisis of confidence in child protection. Children and Youth Services Review, 33(11), 2076–2086.
- McBeath, A. G., Du Plock, S., & Bager-Charleson, S. (2020). The challenges and experiences of psychotherapists working remotely during the coronavirus pandemic. Counselling and Psychotherapy Research, https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12326
- Merkel-Holguin, L; Fluke, J.D. & Krugman, R. D. (Eds.) (2019). National Systems of Child Protection: Understanding the International Variability and Context for Developing Policy and Practice. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Meyer, J. W., & Rowan, B. (1977). Institutionalized Organizations: Formal Structure as Myth and Ceremony. American Journal of Sociology, 83(2), 340–363.
- Meyer, N., & Buschle, C. (2020). Soziale Arbeit in der Corona-Pandemie: Zwischen Überforderung und Marginalisierung: Empirische Trends und professionstheoretische Analysen zur Arbeitssituation im Lockdown (IUBH Discussion Papers No. 4).
- Miller, H. E. (2018). Intuition and decision making for crisis situations. In K. J. Engemann (Ed.), Routledge companions in business, management and accounting. The Routledge companion to risk, crisis and security in business (pp. 47-61). Albingdon, New York: Routledge/Taylor and Francis.
- Möhring, K., Naumann, E., Reifenscheid, M., Wenz, A., Rettig, T., Krieger, U., Friedel, S., Finkel, M., Cornesse, C., Blom, A.G. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic and subjective well-being. Longitudinal evidence on satisfaction with work and family. In European Societies, doi: 10.1080/14616696.2020.1833066
- Mühlmann, T. (2021), Werkstattbericht zur Zusatzerhebung der Gefährdungseinschätzungen gemäß § 8a Abs. 1 SGB VIII anlässlich der SARS-CoV-2-Pandemie. Arbeitsstelle Kinder- und Jugendhilfestatistik. Dortmund.
- Mühlmann, T., & Pothmann, J. (2020). Werkstattbericht zur Zusatzerhebung der Gefährdungseinschätzungen gemäß § 8a Abs. 1 SGB VIII anlässlich der SARS-CoV-2-Pandemie. Dortmund.
- Munro, E. (2019). Decision-making under uncertainty in child protection: Creating a just and learning culture. Child & Family Social Work, 24(1), 123–130.
- Nationales Zentrum Frühe Hilfen (NZFH) (2020): Befragung von Gesundheitsfachkräften zu den Veränderungen durch Corona. Retrieved from: https://www.fruehehilfen.de/forschung-im-nzfh/for-schung-zu-corona/befragung-von-gesundheitsfachkraeften-zu-den-veraenderungen-durch-corona/
- Nisanci, A., Kahraman, R., Alcelik, Y., & Kiris, U. (2020). Working with refugees during COVID-19: Social worker voices from Turkey. International Social Work, 63(5), 685–690.
- Nummer gegen Kummer e.V. (2020, May 27). Anstieg Beratungsanfragen / Facts Sheet 2019 [Press release]. Wuppertal.
- Nyashanu, M., Pfende, F., & Ekpenyong, M. (2020). Exploring the challenges faced by frontline workers in health and social care amid the COVID-19 pandemic: Experiences of frontline workers in the English Midlands region, UK. Journal of Interprofessional Care, https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2020.1792425
- O'Leary, P., & Tsui, M.-S. (2020). Social work's role during and after the pandemic: Keeping vigilant and hopeful on human rights. International Social Work, 63(4), 417–418.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020). Youth and COVID-19: Response, Recovery and Resilience. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/youth-andcovid-19-response-recovery-and-resilience-c40e61c6/
- Ostrom, E. (1996). Crossing the Great Divide: Coproduction, Synergy, and Development. World Development 24(6): 1073-87.
- Parton, N. (1998). Risk, Advanced Liberalism and Child Welfare: The Need to Rediscover Uncertainty and Ambiguity. British Journal of Social Work, 28(1), 5–27.
- Parton, N. (2020): Addressing the Relatively Autonomous Relationship Between Child Maltreatment and Child Protection Policies and Practices. In: International Journal on Child Maltreatment: Research, Policy and Practice, 3(1), 19–34
- Perrow, C. (1967). A Framework for the Comparative Analysis of Organizations. American Sociological Review, 32(2), 194–208.
- Ponnert, L. & Svensson, K. (2016). Standardisation—the end of professional discretion? In: European Journal of Social Work, 19 (3-4), 586–599.

- Posick, C., Schueths, A. A., Christian, C., Grubb, J. A., & Christian, S. E. (2020). Child Victim Services in the Time of COVID-19: New Challenges and Innovative Solutions. American Journal of Criminal Justice, 45(4), 680–689.
- Rabe-Menssen, C. (2021). Patientenanfragen während der Corona-Pandemie. Deutsche Psychotherapeuten Vereinigung. Berlin.
- Rauhaus, B. M., Sibila, D., & Johnson, A. F. (2020). Addressing the Increase of Domestic Violence and Abuse During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Need for Empathy, Care, and Social Equity in Collaborative Planning and Responses. The American Review of Public Administration, 50(6-7), 668-674.
- Richards, D., & Viganó, N. (2013). Online Counseling: A Narrative and Critical Review of the Literature. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 69(9), 994–1011.
- Richmond, M. E. (1922). What is Social Case Work? An introductionary description. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Rittel, H. W. J., & Webber, M. M. (1973). Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. Policy Sciences, 4(2), 155– 169.
- Roesch-Marsh, A. (2016). Professional relationships and decision making in social work: Lessons from a Scottish case study of secure accommodation decision making. Qualitative Social Work, 17(3), 405–422.
- Sayegh, L., Anthony, W. P., & Perrewé, P. L. (2004). Managerial decision-making under crisis: The role of emotion in an intuitive decision process. Human Resource Management Review, 14(2), 179–199.
- Schneider, W., Waldfogel, J., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2017). The Great Recession and risk for child abuse and neglect. Children and Youth Services Review, 72, 71–81.
- Schröder, C., Entringer, T., Göbel, J., Grabka, M. M., Graeber, D., Kröger, H., . . . Zinn, S. (2020). Erwerbstätige sind vor dem Covid-19-Virus nicht alle gleich: SOEPpapers 1080 (SOEPPapers No. 1080). Berlin.
- Schwering, M. (2020). Jürgen Habermas über Corona: "So viel Wissen über unser Nichtwissen gab es noch nie". In Frankfurter Rundschau
- Shi, Y., Jang, H. S., Keyes, L., & Dicke, L. (2020). Nonprofit Service Continuity and Responses in the Pandemic: Disruptions, Ambiguity, Innovation and Challenges. Public Administration Review, https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13254
- Sletten, M.S. & Ellingsen, I.T. (2020). When standardization becomes the lens of professional practice in child welfare services. In Child & Family Social Work, doi: 10.1111/cfs.12748
- Spratt, T., Nett, J., Bromfield, L., Hietamäki, J., Kindler, H., & Ponnert, L. (2015). Child Protection in Europe: Development of an International Cross-Comparison Model to Inform National Policies and Practices. British Journal of Social Work, 45(5), 1508–1525.
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2020): Statistiken der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe. Gefährdungseinschätzungen nach § 8a Absatz 1 SGB VIII 2019. Wiesbaden. Retrieved from: https://www.desta-tis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Soziales/Kinderhilfe-Jugendhilfe/_inhalt.html#sprg234636
- Steinert, J., & Ebert, C. (2020). Gewalt an Frauen und Kindern in Deutschland während COVID-19-bedingten Ausgangsbeschränkungen: Zusammenfassung der Ergebnisse. Retrieved from: https://drive.google.com/file/d/19Wqpby9nwMNjdgO4_FCqqlfYyLJmBn7y/view
- Stickle, B., & Felson, M. (2020). Crime Rates in a Pandemic: The Largest Criminological Experiment in History. American Journal of Criminal Justice, 45(4), 525–536.
- Switzer, D., Wang, W., & Hirschvogel, L. (2020). Municipal Utilities and COVID-19: Challenges, Responses, and Collaboration. The American Review of Public Administration, 50(6-7), 577-583.
- Taub, A. (2020, April 6th). A New Covid-19 Crisis: Domestic Abuse Rises Worldwide. New York Times.
- The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action, Global Partnership to End Violence Against Children, United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), & World Health Organization (WHO) (2020). COVID-19: Protecting Children from Violence, Abuse and Neglect in the Home: Version 1. Retrieved from https://www.unicef.org/documents/covid-19-protecting-children-violence-abuse-and-neglect-home
- Tregeagle, S., & Darcy, M. (2008). Child welfare and information and communication technology: Today's challenge. British Journal of Social Work, 38(8), 1481-1498.
- Truell, R. (2020). News from our societies IFSW: COVID-19: The struggle, success and expansion of social work – Reflections on the profession's global response, 5 months on. International Social Work, 63(4), 545– 548.
- Turner, A. (2020, May 28). Most social workers say Covid-19 has negatively hit their work and the lives of those they support. Community Care.
- Unabhängiger Beauftragter für Fragen des sexuellen Kindesmissbrauchs (UBSKM) (2020). Kinder und ihre Gefährdungen nicht aus dem Blickfeld verlieren: Pressemitteilung vom 25.03.2020 [Press release]. Berlin.
- United Nations (UN) (2020). Policy Brief: The Impact of COVID-19 on children. Retrieved from https://unsdg.un.org/resources/policy-brief-impact-covid-19-children
- United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF), International Ferderation of Social Workers (IFSW), The Alliance for Child Protection in Human Action, & Global Social Service Workers Alliance (2020). Social Service Workforce safety and wellbeing during the Covid-19 response: Recommended action. Genf, et al.

- United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF). (2020). Child Protection Emergency Preparedness and Response Guidance to The COVID-19. New York: UNICEF.
- Urban-Stahl, U., Albrecht, M., & Gross-Lattwein, S. (2018). Hausbesuche im Kinderschutz: Empirische Analysen zu Rahmenbedingungen und Handlungspraktiken in Jugendämtern. Opladen, Berlin, Toronto: Verlag Barbara Budrich.
- van Brown, B. L. (2020). Disaster Research "Methics": Ethical and Methodological Considerations of Researching Disaster-Affected Populations. American Behavioral Scientist, 64(8), 1050–1065, https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764220938115
- Vanderminden, J., Hamby, S., David-Ferdon, C., Kacha-Ochana, A., Merrick, M., Simon, T. R., . . . Turner, H. (2019). Rates of neglect in a national sample: Child and family characteristics and psychological impact. Child abuse & neglect, 88, 256–265.
- Vostanis, P., & Bell, C. A. (2020). Counselling and psychotherapy post-COVID-19. Counselling and Psychotherapy Research, https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12325
- Whitaker, G. P. (1980). Coproduction: Citizen Participation in Service Delivery. Public Administration Review, 40(3), 240–246.
- Whittaker, A. (2018). How Do Child-Protection Practitioners Make Decisions in Real-Life Situations? Lessons from the Psychology of Decision Making. British Journal of Social Work, 48(7), 1967–1984.
- Wilke, N. G., Howard, A. H., & Pop, D. (2020). Data-informed recommendations for services providers working with vulnerable children and families during the COVID-19 pandemic. Child abuse & neglect, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104642
- Witte, S., Miehlbrandt, L. S., van Santen, E., & Kindler, H. (2019). Preventing Child Endangerment: Child Protection in Germany. In L. Merkel-Holguin, J. D. Fluke, & R. D. Krugman (Eds.), National Systems of Child Protection: Understanding the International Variability and Context for Developing Policy and Practice (pp. 93– 114). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2013). European report on preventing child maltreatment. Copenhagen.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2020). Overview of Public Health and Social Measures in the context of COVID-19.
- World Vision (2020a). COVID-19 Aftershocks: A Perfect Storm.
- World Vision (2020b). COVID-19 Aftershocks: Secondary impacts threaten more children's lives than disease itself.
- Zhao, S. (2003). 'Taxonomy of co-presence', Presence, 12(5), 445-55.
- Zitelmann, M., Berneiser, C., & Beckmann, K. (2020). Appell aus der Wissenschaft: Mehr Kinderschutz in der Corona-Pandemie. Frankfurt, Koblenz. Retrieved from https://www.hs-koblenz.de/hochschule/organisation/pressebereich/aktuelles/detail/_n/appell-aus-der-wissenschaft-fuer-mehr-kinderschutz-in-der-coronakrise